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HOSPITAL

ment was made of the formation
of the NORTH COUNTRY HOS-
PITALS corporation, being
brought about by the Noble Foun-
dation having made commitments
to assist in the cost of construc-
tion of hospitals in Alexandria
Bay and in Canton.

The financial campaign to raise
the $150,000 required got under
way at a dinner at the Gouver-
neur Country club on June 19th,
1947, which was attended by
around 100 people. Mr. Boughner,
in commenting on the raising of
$150,000, emphasized that this was
a minimum figure and at least a
quarter of a million dollars should
be raised. The fund-raising cam-
paign was carried on by a Com-
munitly Relations committee, con-
sisting of James O. Sheldon, An-
drew K. Laidlaw, Edward H. Case
Mason R. Smith, William B. Si-
mons, Albert E. Boughner, Mrs.
Dora Parker, Mrs. Louise Ruder-
man, George A. Schildge, A. Pres-
cott Loomis, Harold D. Kinney,
Reverend Joseph A. Schofield, jr.,
Earl Laidlaw, Clayton F. Rush,
Harry Turnbull, Dr. Harry Mills
and Dr. Arthur E. Head, all of
Gouverneur; Rene J. Mechin and
Edmund A. Sullivan of Edwards
and Balmat; Mrs. Bess Dauvis,
Fowler; Earl R. Brasie, of Brasie
Corners and Walter Best, Rich-
ville. This committee covered all
phases of the campaign and 24
teams were organized for the
Village of Gouverneur and the

outlying area included in the
drive.
Early in August, 1947, a de-

cision was reached that the new
hospital would be located upon a
strip of land above the Oswegat-
chie river on West Barney street,
between the residences of Glen
Cole and Clayton Rush.

Plans and specifications were
drawn during the winter of 1947-
48 for the erection of the hospital
upon the selected site, on a basis
of an outlay of not more than
$600,000. When bids were estima-
ted, however, the costs were found
to run about $1,150,000 and this
staggering cost figure definitely
halted any construction in the
spring of 1948 as had originally
been planned.

The possibility of receiving
some Federal assistance became
apparent in the summer of 1948.
Mr. Boughner made trips to Al-
bany to confer with officials in re-
lation to North Country Hospitals
projects receiving benefits from
the Federal hospital building pri-
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gram, known as Public Law 725 of
the 79th Congress. In November,
1948, a Federal grant of some
$302,000 was confirmed by the
New York State Joint Hospital
Survey and Planning Commission
after having been recommended
by the Syracuse Regional Council.

This made over $900,000 avail-
able and Mr. Boughner and the
hospital building committee im-
mediately began the work of re-
vising the original plans, reducing
from four floors to only three
floors, but retaining the original
60 patient bed and effecting other
economies. However, the building
plans still called for the best ele-
ments known in building construc-
tion and also for adequate steel
structure, foundations, sewer
stacks heating to permit the fu-
ture erection of a fourth floor
with a 40-bed nursing unit to give
a total of 100 beds when needed.

Bids were opened on May 14th,
1949, in the Municipal Building
after the architects, Skidmore,
Owings & Merrill had completed
the revision of drawings. The
joint bid of the John W. Rouse
Construction Corp., Gouverneur,
and the Putnam-Hawley Con-
struction company of Potsdam,
was low at $886,860 among a
total of six bidders.

All bids were still higher than
anticipated and still more than
the money available. The break-
down of the amount available at
the time bids were opened was
about: Noble Foundation, $300,000
Federal aid, $302,000; local funds,
$330,000.

This was about $200,000 short
of the total amount necessary to
complete the building, equipment,
architects’ fees, cost of site and
the initial promotion, but Mr.
Boughner called attention to the
fact that there was no assurance
that the appropriation of Federal
aid would be available in the next
fiscal year, and expressed the be-
lief that a contract should be
awarded and construction started
perhaps in May, with expectation
that some additional government
funds might be obtainable and the
balance would have to be raised
locally.

After consideration of all bids,
the contract was awarded to the
firm of Rouse-Putnam company,
Gouverneur, and the first work
was done upon the hospital at one
o'clock the afternoon of May 18th
when a bulldozer started stripping
top soil. Drilling and blasting of
rock commenced a few days later.
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First concrete was poured July
12th. Structural steel erection
commenced August 22nd and com-
pleted in less than three weeks.
The laying of masonry walls was
started September 27th.

Ground breaking ceremonies at
the time construction work began
on the West Barney street site,
May 18, were omitted, but the
history of the Noble hospital and
its predecessor, the Stephen B.
VanDuzee hospital association and
early hospital movements, were
filed in the cornerstone ceremony
October 7, 1949. The history, as
gotten up by Julius R. Bartlett
and Albert E. Boughner, was filed
in a hermetically-sealed stainless
cylinder in the cornerstone at the
left of the front entrance. Many
articles and items of interest for
future generations and a copy of
the Gouverneur Tribune-Press
were included in the cylinder.

Laying the Cornerstone

Mr. and Mrs. Edward J. Noble
of New York were present for
the laying of the cornerstone as
well as the contractors and build-
ers, John W. Rouse of Gouverneur
and Harold A. Putnam of Pots-
dam, and all local hospital board
members and members of hospital
boards at Canton and Alexandria
Bay.

Dedication

The dedication ceremony took
place at 7 p.m. Friday, July 14,
1950, with Dr. Charles W. Mayo,
member of the board of governors
of the Mayo Clinic, Rochester,
Minn.,, as the principal speaker
and Mr. Boughner, local hospital
head, acting as chairman. Other
speakers were Dr. John J. Bourke
of Albany, executive director of
the New York State joint hospital
survey and planning commission,
and Dr. Herman Weiskotten, dean
of the school of medicine, New
York State university, Syracuse,
now the regional medical center
for this area. Dr. Weiskotten was
introduced by Dr. Harry L. Mills,
local physician, representing the
Gouverneur medical staff. The
medical practitioners for the hos-
pital were Dr. George H. Hanlon,
resident surgeon for the hospital,
together with Dr. Frederick F.
Drury, dean of the Gouverneur
physicians; his son, Dr. Foster
Drury; Dr. Abram D. Burr, Dr.
Ernest L. Adler; Dr. Arthur E.
Head and Dr. Harry L. Mills.

Acting on behalf of the Edward
J. Noble Foundation and the
North Country hospitals, sponsors
of the Gouverneur project, Ed-
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The Legal Profession In Gouverneur

The Centennial History of Gou-
verneur relates the story of the
lawyers who served its people
during its first one hundred years.
According to the article written
by Attorneys H. Walter Lee and
Robert E. McLear, the first law-
yer to locate in Gouverneur was
Edwin Dodge who came here as
an agent of the Morris estate in
1829 and was County Judge for
two terms, The office of Surrogate
was held by two Gouverneur At-
torneys, Dexter A. Johnson from
1878 to 1880, and Vasco P. Abbott
from 1880 to 1882. The office of
Special County Judge was held by
Gouverneur attorneys for 46 years
from 1860 to 1906: E. H. Neary,
V. P. Abbott, G. S. Conger and
Arthur T. Johnson. Edwin Dodge
and George M. Gleason each serv-
ed as member of the Assembly of
the State Legislature. Major J.
Bower Preston, veteran of the
Civil War, practiced in Gouver-
neur from the end of the war until
his death in 1898. Lawyers then
prominent in Gouverneur life in-
cluded Charles Anthony, organi-
zer and first president of the
Bank of Gouverneur, Cornelius A.
Parker, William H. Andrews and
Edwin H. Neary.

First Woman

The first woman to be admitted
to the bar in St. Lawrence County
and one of the first in the state
was Miss Grace E. Robinson of
Gouverneur admitted on Decem-
ber 2, 1892. She married Charles
M. Hale June 26, 1895 and for sev-
eral years they practiced law in
Gouverneur under the firm name
of Hale and Hale. In 1900 they
moved to Canton where Mr. Hale
was clerk of the Surrogate Court
and clerk of the Board of Super-
visors. Robert Hale, their son,
graduated from Columbia Law
School in 1925 and opened an of-
fice in Gouverneur in 1927 under
the firm name of Hale, Hale and
Hale.

1905 Attorneys

In 1905 fifteen attorneys were
practicing in Gouverneur. They
were Vasco P. Abbott, Arthur H.
Abbott. Herbert G. Aldrich, Ger-
rit S. Conger, John F. Cook,
James C. Dolan, Joseph George,
Dallas M. Hazelton, Arthur T.
Johnson, H. Walter Lee, Robert E.
McLear, Edwin H. Neary, Arthur
W. Orvis, George W. Parker and
C. Arthur Parker. Resident at-

torneys not in practice then were:
Archie F. McAllaster, Fred Nor-
ton and Cyrus Hewitt. During the
next 50 ears of Gouverneur's life
some of these men were destined
to make legal and political his-
tory.

Judge Dolan

Vasco P. Abbott, one of the
leading lawyers of the time, had
his office in the space now occu-
pied by Edward H. Case. With
him then was James C. Dolan,
who, born September 4, 1870 in
the Town of Macomb, had gradu-
ated from St. Lawrence in 1836
and been admitted to the bar in
1898. Mr. Dolan studied law in Mr.
Abbott’s office and after his ad-
mission to the bar the partnership
of Abbott & Dolan was formed.
Mr. Abbott died in 1918. In 1908
Judge John C. Crapser appointed
Mr. Dolan Assistant District At-
torney. In 1915 he was elected
District Attorney, which office he
held until 1921 when he was nam-
ed County Judge by Governor
Nathan Miller. He was the first
Judge of Children’s Court in St.
Lawrence county. In 1905 he was
elected to the Board of Education
becoming president of the board
in 1910, which office he held when
he died in October 1937. He was
made a life member of the Board
of Trustees of St. Lawrence uni-
versity in 1919. He was a dicec-
tor of the Bank of Gouverneur
and trustee of the Gouverneur
Savings & Loan Association.

Arthur T. Johnson

Arthur T. Johnson, a native of
Vermont, after graduating from
Eastman’s Business college in
Poughkeepsie, studied law in the
office of Conger & Gleason. Upon
admission to the bar in 1886, he
practiced here and in 1889 he for-
med a partnership with George M.
Gleason and the same 'year was
elected Special County Judge. He
was vice-president of the First
National Bank and president of
the Steven B. VanDuzee Hospital
Association. He died in February
1938.

Dallas M. Hazelton
Dallas M. Hazelton, born Ocrto-
ber 17, 1878 in Fowler, graduated
from Gouverneur high school in
1898. After reading law for two
years in the offices of Gleason and
Johnson, he entered Union college

for a year’s course in the Albany

Law School, graduating in 1901.

He was admitted to the bar in
September 1901. He became Spec-
ial County Judge on January 26,
1914 by appointment of Governor
Martin H. Glynn. The Hon. Frank
Cooper appointed him as U.S.
Commissioner of the Northern
District of New York. He served
as a member of the Village Board
of Trustees. During World War I
he was chairman of the Victory
Loan committee. He died June 11,
1934 at the age of 55 years.

Judge Abbott

Arthur H. Abbott, remembered
by the lawyers of today as Judge
Abbott, was first elected Justice
of the Peace of the Town at the
Biennial Town Meeting on Febru-
ary 12, 1901. He had graduated
from the local high school, Pots-
dam Normal School and from Al-
bany Law School in 1896, and had
been admitted to practice in June
of that year. He became Village
Police Justice in May 1920. He
remained Judge Abbott until the
day of his death in August 1951.

Herbert O. Aldrich who gradu-
ated with honors from Hamilton
college and Harvard Law school,
was elected Supervisor February
12, 1907 and held the office for
two terms. He was president of
the Bank of Gouverneur from 1911
until his death in January, 1926.

Charles S. Bodman was appoin-
ted by the Town Board Supervisor
to fill a vacancy on September 10,
1917 and was elected to the office
at the election in November. He
served as supervisor until 1925
when he became the first St. Law-
rence County Compensation attor-
ney ‘handling Workmen's Compen-
sation matters for the county un-
til his death in 1941.

Arthur W. Orvis, a graduate of
Albany Law School, a member of
the firm of Conger, Orvis & Mec-
Lear, was Deputy County Clerk
from 1889 to 1892 and Village
President in 1894-96. In 1912 he
went to Albany as a Deputy At-
torney General in the Land and
Title Bureau and was there until
1935. He formed an Abstract Cor-
poration to do title work in St.
Lawrence and Franklin counties.
He served as president of the St.
Lawrence County Society for the
Prevention of Cruelty to Children.
He died November 6, 1942.

George W. Parker, born in Ma-





